IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

NICOLA SPIRTOS,

Appellant / Defendant,

v.

ARMEN YEMENIDJIAN,

Respondent / Plaintiff.

Nevada Supreme Court Case Number:

80992 Electronically Filed

Nov 19 2020 06:23 p.m. Eighth Judicial District Delli A. Brown Number: A-196847 8 Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

McNutt Law Firm Daniel R. McNutt, Bar No. 7815 Matthew C. Wolf, Bar No. 10801 625 South Eighth Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Tel.: (702) 384-1170 Fax.: (702) 384-5529 drm@mcnuttlawfirm.com mcw@mcnuttlawfirm.com

Counsel for Appellant Nick Spirtos

RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE

I. JURISDICTIONAL AND ROUTING STATEMENT.

On December 10, 2019, Dr. Nicola M. Spirtos, M.D. filed a Special Motion to Dismiss. Volume 1 of Appellant's Appendix at pgs. 8–24 (1 App. 8–24). Armen Yemenidjian opposed it on January 6, 2010. 1 App. 195–222. Dr. Spirtos replied on January 16, 2010. 2 App. 223–315. On March 5, 2020, the district court denied the Motion to Dismiss. 2 App. 351–365 (the Order). Dr. Spirtos appealed on March 26, 2020. 2 App. 383–384. This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 41.670(4). The appeal is timely because the Notice of Appeal was filed less than 30 days after the Order. This Court should retain jurisdiction because NRS 41.670(4) allows an appeal "to the Supreme Court."

II. ISSUE ON APPEAL.

Whether the district court erred when it concluded that Dr. Spirtos's statements to nonparty John Oceguera at Governor Steve Sisolak's inaugural gala on January 18, 2019, at Aria Resort and Casino (the Gala) are not protected by Nevada anti-SLAPP law. The Order is subject to de novo review. *Abrams v. Sanson*, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 458 P.3d 1062, 1065 (2020).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This case arises from the controversy surrounding the marijuana license application process at the Nevada Department of Taxation (the Department). In July 2018, the Department announced it would accept applications from existing medical

marijuana establishments (MMEs) for additional retail licenses. At that time, Dr. Spirtos was an owner of the licensee D.H. Flamingo. He spearheaded D.H. Flamingo's applications for additional retail licenses. During that process, he came to believe that the application process had been corrupted.

Shortly before the application deadline, the Department made changes to its application form that were illegal. Contrary to NAC 453D.272(1)(h), the Department deleted the requirement for the applicant to describe its key personnel. Also, in violation of NRS 453D.210(5)(b) and NAC 453D.268(2)(e), the Department deleted the requirements for the applicant to identify the address for the proposed establishment and to provide proof that it owned the address or had permission from the owner to operate the establishment.

D.H. Flamingo submitted its applications in September 2018. Before the Department announced its decision on them several months later, Dr. Spirtos had breakfast with Jorge Pupo, the official in charge of the Department's licensing program. Pupo repeatedly said he personally needed to make more money and suggested he was seeking employment or money from D.H. Flamingo. Dr. Spirtos was taken aback by Pupo's unsolicited and improper remarks.

The Department denied D.H. Flamingo's applications in December 2018. It failed to provide an explanation for its decision in violation of NAC 453D.312(7). On January 9, 2019, Dr. Spirtos met with officials at the Department to request an

explanation for the denial. The Department refused to disclose the average scores for each criterion in the applications it received and also refused to answer Dr. Spirtos's questions about the scoring process.

As Dr. Spirtos was leaving the meeting, two unidentified men approached him in the Department's parking lot and said shenanigans were occurring inside the Department. Specifically, they said an attorney for some applicants had met with Pupo daily for a week before the Department announced its decision on the applications. Later that day, Dr. Spirtos began receiving a series of anonymous text messages, one of which said Pupo had accepted kickbacks. Based on these events and others, Dr. Spirtos came to believe that the application process within the Department had been corrupted.

Beginning in late 2018, two suits were filed in the Eighth Judicial District Court that contested the integrity of the application process (the Licensing Suits). One of the suits was filed on January 4, 2019, by D.H. Flamingo. D.H. Flamingo alleged that the Department's "ranking and scoring process was corrupted" and that the Department "improperly allocated licenses and improperly favored certain applicants." It sought an order invalidating the licenses awarded by the Department and requiring the Department to redo the application process. That relief would have affected the entire marijuana industry, and it could have benefited other unsuccessful applicants besides D.H. Flamingo.

On January 18, 2019, Dr. Spirtos attended the Gala as the CEO of D.H. Flamingo. During conversation at D.H. Flamingo's table, he opined that the application process at the Department had been corrupted. Later, he spoke with John Oceguera, the former speaker of the Nevada Assembly. At that time, Oceguera was a paid lobbyist for Yemenidjian's marijuana companies—some of which were parties to the Licensing Suits. He also sat on the board of an unsuccessful applicant. Dr. Spirtos again opined to Oceguera that the application process had been corrupted.

On November 4, 2019, Yemenidjian sued Dr. Spirtos for purportedly slandering him to Oceguera at the Gala, as well as for purportedly conspiring against him. On December 10, 2019, Dr. Spirtos filed his Motion to Dismiss and argued, inter alia, that his statements to Oceguera are protected by NRS 41.637 and that Yemenidjian's claims are barred by the litigation privilege.

Yemenidjian filed an Opposition on January 6, 2020 and attached a declaration from Oceguera. Tellingly, the declaration does not support Yemenidjian's allegations. While Yemenidjian alleges Dr. Spirtos said he "had engaged in outright corruption in order to secure licenses," 1 App. 4 (Compl. ¶ 18), the declaration merely says Dr. Spirtos commented that "Yemenidjian was knee deep in the corruption at the center of the licensing process" and "insinuated a crime," 1 App. 209 (Oceguera Decl. ¶ 8) (emphasis added).

On March 5, 2020, the district court denied the Motion to Dismiss. It concluded, inter alia, that (1) NRS 41.637(3) is inapplicable because Oceguera was not an active government official, and there was nothing to suggest Dr. Spirtos's statements were made in direct connection with a matter under judicial consideration (2 App. 358–361 (8:17–21)); (2) NRS 41.637(4) is inapplicable because Dr. Spirtos did not make the statements in good faith, the Gala was not open to the public, and Dr. Spirtos made the statements privately to Oceguera (*id.* (9:10–23)); and (3) the litigation privilege is inapplicable because Oceguera did not have a sufficient interest in or connection to the Licensing Suits (*id.* (11:9–22)). The Order is erroneous, and the district court should have granted the Motion to Dismiss.

A special motion to dismiss involves a two-prong analysis. The first prong requires the movant to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement is protected by NRS 41.637. This prong has two subparts: (1) the statement must fall within one of the four categories in NRS 41.637; and (2) it must be truthful or have been made without knowledge of a falsehood. As a matter of law, opinions—i.e., statements that a reasonable listener would not interpret as expressions of fact—constitute statements made without knowledge of a falsehood. If the movant satisfies the first prong, then the nonmovant must present prima facie evidence demonstrating a probability of success. It cannot do so if the complaint involves privileged statements or warrants dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(5).

Dr. Spirtos satisfied the first prong by a preponderance of the evidence. NRS 41.637(3) applies because the topic of his conversation with Oceguera—i.e., corruption within the Department—was under judicial consideration in the Licensing Suits. NRS 41.637(4) also applies because public corruption is a matter of public interest, and the Gala was a place open to the public or a public forum. His statement to Oceguera that the license process at the Department had been corrupted was an opinion and also was true or made without knowledge of a falsehood. His purported statement to Oceguera that Yemenidjian was "knee deep in the corruption at the center of the licensing process" was too vague and generalized for a reasonable listener to find any specific factual allegations in it. The alleged remark did not accuse Yemenidjian of paying bribes or kickbacks, mention any specific criminal transactions, or even identify any particular acts by Yemenidjian.

Yemenidjian failed to satisfy the second prong. For starters, his claims are barred by the litigation privilege. The privilege covers statements related to ongoing litigation made to someone with a significant interest in the outcome of the litigation or a role in the litigation. Dr. Spirtos's conversation with Oceguera about corruption within the Department related to the subject of the Licensing Suits. Furthermore, Oceguera had a significant interest in the outcome of the Licensing Suits by being a paid lobbyist for Yemenidjian's marijuana companies—which were parties to the Licensing Suits—and a board member of an unsuccessful applicant. Indeed, the

entire marijuana industry—of which Oceguera was a member—had a significant interest in the Licensing Suits because it would be affected by D.H. Flamingo's request for an order invalidating the licenses awarded by the Department and requiring the Department to redo the application process.

Yemenidjian also failed to present prima facie evidence demonstrating a probability of success. He presented no evidence of a conspiracy, and Oceguera's declaration does not support the allegations in the slander per se claim. Finally, Yemenidjian cannot demonstrate a probability of success on his civil conspiracy claim and prayer for punitive damages because they warrant dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(5). As pled, the conspiracy claim involves a conspiracy of one person, which is legally impossible. It also does not provide fair notice of the nature and basis of the supposed conspiracy because it fails to identify the conspirators, an agreement to conspire, or any concerted acts. The prayer for punitive damages fails because it does not allege any facts establishing oppression.

For these reasons and others, this Court should reverse the Order.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

A. Dr. Spirtos Spearheaded D.H. Flamingo's Applications to the Department for Additional Retail Licenses.

Dr. Spirtos—a prominent and highly accomplished gynecologic oncologist—is a former faculty member at Stanford University and presently is medical director of the Women's Cancer Center. 1 App. 114–115 (Spirtos Decl., Dec. 10, 2019, ¶ 2).

From 2014 until around February 2019, he had an ownership interest in D.H. Flamingo, which had a medical marijuana license and operated a MME. *Id.* (¶ 3). In July 2018, the Department announced it would accept applications from existing MMEs for additional retail licenses. *Id.* (¶ 4). It required all applications to be submitted in September 2018. *Id.* (¶ 4). D.H. Flamingo submitted three applications prepared mostly by Dr. Spirtos. *Id.* (¶ ¶ 4, 6).

On July 6, 2018, the Department released an updated application form. 1 App. 115 (Dr. Spirtos Decl. ¶ 5). It identified the total possible points for various criteria. *Id.* (¶ 5). The most valuable criterion was based on the applicant's description of its "proposed organizational structure" and "information concerning each owner, officer and board member including *key personnel*" of the proposed establishment. *Id.* (¶ 5) (emphasis added). That language complied with NAC 453D.272(1)(h), which requires the Department to consider the experience of the applicant's key personnel. The application form also required the applicant to list the address for the prospective establishment, which complied with NAC 453D.268(2)(e). *Id.* (¶ 7). It also required proof of ownership of the address or written permission from the owner to operate the establishment, which complied with NAC 453D.268(2)(e) and NRS 453D.210(5)(b). *Id.* (¶ 7).

About two weeks later, the Department unexpectedly revised the application form. 1 App. 116–117 (Dr. Spirtos Decl. ¶ 8). The new form deleted the reference

to "key personnel" in its description of the most valuable criterion. Id. (¶ 8). It also eliminated the requirements to include the address for the prospective establishment and to provide proof of ownership or written permission from the owner to operate the establishment. Id. (¶ 9). Dr. Spirtos believed the new form was illegal. Id.

After D.H. Flamingo submitted its applications in September 2018 but before the Department announced its decision on them, Dr. Spirtos had breakfast with Jorge Pupo, the head of the Department's application process. 1 App. 117 (Dr. Spirtos Decl. ¶ 11). Pupo repeatedly said he needed to make more money. *Id.* (¶ 11). His statements suggested he was seeking employment with or some form of compensation from D.H. Flamingo. *Id.* (¶ 11). Dr. Spirtos was uncomfortable with the statements and felt they were improper. *Id.* (¶ 11).

In December 2018, the Department denied D.H. Flamingo's applications. 1 App. 117 (Dr. Spirtos Decl. ¶ 12). NAC 453D.312(7) states that if the Department denies an application, then it must explain the specific reasons. In violation of that regulation, the Department merely informed D.H. Flamingo that it did not achieve a high enough score without any further explanation. *Id.* (¶ 12). On January 9, 2019, Dr. Spirtos attended a meeting at the Department to discuss the scoring of D.H. Flamingo's applications. *Id.* (¶ 13). The Department refused to disclose the average scores for each criterion in the applications it received, and instead, it disclosed only the combined scores for multiple criteria. *Id.* (¶ 13). It also refused to answer

questions about the scoring process. *Id.* (¶ 13).

Dr. Spirtos has extensive experience with reviewing data for medical studies and publications. 1 App. 118 (Dr. Spirtos Decl. ¶ 15). In his opinion, the validity of the scores disclosed by the Department is dubious due to a lack of variability. *Id.* (¶ 15). Such lack of variability is virtually impossible and indicates potential data manipulation. *Id.* (¶ 15). Also, the Department supposedly reviewed each application in around 1.5 to 2 hours. *Id.* (¶ 16). Each application likely exceeded 1,000 pages. *Id.* D.H. Flamingo's applications were around 1,700 pages. *Id.* Dr. Spirtos does not believe it would have been possible for each application to have been reviewed adequately in that time. *Id.*

As Dr. Spirtos was leaving the meeting at the Department, two men approached him in the parking lot. 1 App. 118 (Dr. Spirtos Decl. ¶ 14). Dr. Spirtos does not know their names. *Id.* (¶ 14). The men said shenanigans were occurring inside the Department in relation to the application process. *Id.* They said an attorney for some applicants had met every day for a week with Pupo before the Department announced its decision. *Id.* Later that day, Dr. Spirtos began receiving a series of text messages from an anonymous individual from an unrecognized number. *Id.* One message said Pupo had taken kickbacks. *Id.*

B. The Licensing Suits Were Filed Before the Gala.

The Licensing Suits were filed before the Gala and challenged the integrity of

the license application process at the Department. On December 10, 2018, MM Development Company, Inc. sued the Department and alleged that its applications were denied by the Department. 1 App. 161 (¶ 16). It also alleged the Department "improperly granted more than one recreational marijuana store license per jurisdiction to certain applicants, owners, or ownership groups." *Id.* (¶ 17). On January 4, 2019, D.H. Flamingo also sued the Department. 1 App. 143–168 (the D.H. Flamingo Suit and the D.H. Flamingo Complaint). It alleged the Department's "ranking and scoring process was corrupted" and that the Department "improperly allocated licenses and improperly favored certain applicants." *Id.* (¶¶ 81–82; 91).

C. Dr. Spirtos Formed the Opinion that the License Application Process Had Been Corrupted.

Based on (1) Pupo's statements at breakfast, (2) the statements by unidentified men in the Department's parking lot, (3) the anonymous text messages, (4) the Department's illegal changes to the application form, (5) a lack of variability in the Department's scores, (6) his belief it would be impossible to review each application adequately in 1.5 to 2 hours, (7) the Department's refusal to explain why D.H. Flamingo received certain scores for certain criteria, despite its legal obligation to do so, (8) the Department's refusal to disclose the average score for each criterion and to answer questions about the scoring process, and (9) the Licensing Suits, Dr. Spirtos came to form the opinion that the Department's application process had been corrupted. 1 App. 119 (Spirtos Decl. ¶ 19).

D. Dr. Spirtos Spoke with John Oceguera at the Gala.

D.H. Flamingo purchased a table at the Gala. 1 App. 119 (Spirtos Decl. ¶ 20). Dr. Spirtos attended the Gala as its CEO. *Id.* During conversation at the table, Dr. Spirtos opined that the application process at the Department had been corrupted. *Id.* He never mentioned Yemenidjian or suggested he was involved in corruption or any crimes. *Id.* Dr. Spirtos also spoke with John Oceguera, the former speaker of the Nevada Assembly and a current lobbyist for Yemenidjian. *Id.* ¶ 21. During the conversation, Dr. Spirtos again opined that the application process at the Department had been corrupted. *Id.* Once more, he never mentioned Yemenidjian or suggested he was involved in corruption or any crimes. *Id.*

E. Yemenidjian Sued Dr. Spirtos.

For about nine months after the Gala, Yemenidjian showed no interest in or concern about Dr. Spirtos's conversation with Oceguera. But at his deposition in the Licensing Suits on October 9, 2019, Dr. Spirtos publicly revealed for the first time that he was cooperating with the FBI with its investigation of the Department. 1 App. 120 (Spirtos Decl. ¶ 23). Suddenly, Yemenidjian had a newfound interest in Dr. Spirtos's conversation with Oceguera, and three weeks after Dr. Spirtos's deposition, Yemenidjian raced to the courthouse and sued Dr. Spirtos. The timing of the suit speaks volumes. Yemenidjian clearly filed it to intimidate and to silence Dr. Spirtos and to discourage him from assisting the FBI.

Yemenidjian alleges the following in his Complaint. He "is one of the leading executives in the legal cannabis business in the United States," and his companies have obtained 22 cannabis licenses in Nevada and California. 1 App. 2–3 (Compl. ¶¶ 6–9). In contrast to the success of Yemenidjian's companies, D.H. Flamingo failed on multiple occasions to obtain a cannabis license in Nevada, and Dr. Spirtos attempted to use illegitimate means to compensate for that failure. *Id.* (¶¶ 10–16). Specifically, he contacted his friend George Kelesis, a member of the Nevada Tax Commission, to undo D.H. Flamingo's unsuccessful application, and he also undertook a campaign to disparage Yemenidjian. *Id.* While at the Gala, Dr. Spirtos told Oceguera that Yemenidjian had engaged in outright corruption to secure licenses. *Id.* (¶¶ 18). Dr. Spirtos fabricated the story to generate adverse publicity and interfere with Yemenidjian's ability to obtain future licenses. *Id.* (¶¶ 21–22).

Yemenidjian sued Dr. Spirtos for civil conspiracy and slander per se. 1 App. 6–7 (Compl. ¶¶ 25–36). The conspiracy claim alleges he "undertook a campaign with others," but it fails to identify the "others." *Id.* (¶ 26). The slander per se claim alleges he accused Yemenidjian of criminal activity. *Id.* (¶ 32). Both claims request punitive damages based on alleged oppression. *Id.* (¶¶ 28, 35).

D. The District Court Denied the Motion to Dismiss.

On December 10, 2019, Dr. Spirtos filed his Motion to Dismiss and made the following arguments:

- 1. His conversation with Oceguera is protected by NRS 41.637(3) because its topics—i.e., irregularities and corruption in the Department—were under judicial consideration in the Licensing Suits. 1 App. 16 (Mot. to Dismiss, 9:9–12).
- 2. His conversation with Oceguera is protected by NRS 41.637(4) because the Gala was a place open to the public, and the topic—i.e., public corruption—is a matter of public interest. *Id.* (9:12–14).
- 3. Each of Yemenidjian's claims is barred as a matter of law by the litigation privilege. *Id.* (9:24-10:8).
- 4. The conspiracy claim fails because (a) it was brought against a single defendant (*Id.* 10:11–26); (b) by failing to identify the conspirators, it does not provide fair notice (*id.* 10:27 11:7); (c) it lacks facts concerning an agreement to conspire and concerted actions (*id.* 11:8 12:7); and (d) it is redundant of the slander per se claim (*id.* 12:8–19).
- 5. The prayer for punitive damages fails because it does not allege facts showing oppression. *Id.* (15:25-16:20).

Yemenidjian made the following arguments in his Opposition:

1. Dr. Spirtos cannot invoke Nevada anti-SLAPP law because he denies accusing Yemenidjian of criminal activity. 1 App. 10–11 (Opp'n to Mot. to Dismiss, 3:22 – 4:6).

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