### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

*Supreme Court Case No. 80922* District Court Case No. A-19-804785-C

Electronically Filed Jan 20 2021 06:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

### NICOLA SPIRTOS

Appellant/Defendant,

v.

ARMEN YEMENIDJIAN.

Respondent/Plaintiff.

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Susan Johnson, Department XXII District Court Case No. A-19-804785-C

> Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 Jordan T. Smith, Esq., Bar No. 12097 Emily A. Buchwald, Esq., Bar No. 13442 PISANELLI BICE PLLC 400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: 702.214.2100

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

There is no doubt that there may be instances where statements related to public corruption could fall under NRS 41.637(4). However, there is no bright line rule. Instead, this Court adopted a set of guiding principles to determine whether statements relate to an issue of public interest:

(1) 'public interest' does not equate with mere curiosity; (2) a matter of public interest should be something of concern to a substantial number of people; a matter of concern to a speaker and a relatively small specific audience is not a matter of public interest; (3) there should be some degree of closeness between the challenged statements and asserted public interest-*the assertion of a broad and amorphous public interest is not sufficient*; (4) the focus of the speaker's conduct should be the public interest *rather than a mere effort to gather ammunition for another round of private controversy*; and (5) a person cannot turn otherwise private information into a matter of public interest simply by communicating it to a large number of people.

Coker v. Sassone, 135 Nev. 8, 13, 432 P.3d 746, 750 (2019) (citing Shapiro v. Welt,

133 Nev. 35, 39, 389 P.3d 262, 268 (2017)) (emphasis added).

Applying these principles, it becomes clear why Spirtos analyzed the broad,

amorphous concept of public corruption rather than the actual statements he made to Oceguera. (Opening Br. at 23-25.) Spirtos' slanderous statements about Yemenidjian were not intended to be in the public interest; it was an attempt to advance his own business interests. While Spirtos now frames his statements as related to public corruption, Spirtos was frustrated that his own deficient application for a recreational marijuana license had been rejected. Spirtos was hoping to get ammunition for his plan to receive a license through litigation, just like he did when he obtained his medical marijuana license. No matter how many times Spirtos repeats his slanderous statements about Yemenidjian, he cannot turn it into a public interest under NRS 41.637(4).

The Court recently recognized that it had not developed a test to determine whether a statement is made in a place open to the public or in a public forum. *Kosor v. Olympia Comps.*, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 83 (Dec. 31, 2020). That ambiguity, however, goes to statements made at HOA meetings and posted on certain websites. *Id.* at \*6-7. The district court accurately considered the scope when determining that Spirtos' one-on-one conversation with Oceguera "was not made 'in a place open to the public or in a public forum.' Indeed, while there were perhaps hundreds, if not thousands of attendees at a governor's inaugural ball, such an event or party is either by invitation or paid ticket, meaning not just anyone may come and join. Notwithstanding that point, *even if* the Ball were considered a 'public forum,' the

statement allegedly was made private to Mr. Oceguera." (App. 376:15-19.) A plain reading of NRS 41.637(4) should exclude private conversations like the one between Spirtos and Oceguera.

A review of instances where the Court has determined statements fall under NRS 41.637(4) further highlight just how far afield Spirtos' one on one communication is. In *Taylor*, a researched presentation to 300 people about gambling constitutes a protected statement in public. 486 P.3d at 826. Statements posted to a website about a judge's behavior in the courtroom was found to be directly related to a public interest in a public forum in Abrams v. Sanson. 136 Nev. at 87, 458 P.3d at 1066-67. The Court recently determined that statements made at HOA meetings in a large planned community were in the public interest because "each of [defendant's] criticisms of Olympia fundamentally related back to his strident support for democratic participation in and governance over the large residential community where he resided, which undoubtedly goes beyond *the airing* of some trivial private dispute between private parties." Kosar, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. at \*5 (emphasis added). The Court should not now expand NRS 41.637(4) to Spirtos' private conversation about a private dispute.

In all, Spirtos did not meet his burden to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his defamatory statements about Yemenidjian's purported involvement in corruption and criminal activity was protected by the anti-SLAPP statute such that Yemenidjian's lawsuit should be dismissed. Spirtos' self-serving declaration was directly contradicted by Oceguera; Spirtos cannot show that these statements were made in good faith, particularly because he later conceded that he had no support for his allegations against Yemenidjian. Spirtos' attempts to gossip and spread lies also do not fall within any of the four categories enumerated in NRS 41.637. Spirtos' tortured and expansive interpretation directly contradicts the Court's prior opinions explaining the necessary relationship. A tenuous relationship to a litigation is not enough, nor is a broad amorphous public interest. Therefore, Spirtos has not met his burden under the first prong of NRS 41.660 to show by a preponderance of the evidence that Yemenidjian's defamation claim was based upon a good faith communication in direct connection with an issue of public concern.

### D. Dr. Spirtos' Motion To Dismiss Pursuant To NRCP 12(b)(5) Is Not Before This Court.

Much of Spirtos' argument in his opening brief asks this Court to determine whether Yemenidjian met his burden under the second prong of NRS 41.660(3)(b). (Opening Br. 31-41.) A review of the underlying briefing, however, shows that Spirtos advanced these arguments as part of his request for alternative relief under NRCP 12(b)(5), not in relation to his special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660. (*See* App. 010-11, App. 016-23 (discussing Spirtos' request for relief under NRCP 12(b)(5)); App. 232-43 (same).) Additionally, the district court's order addressed – and denied – these arguments under the NRCP 12(b)(5) standard. (App. 381 ("In addition, the Complaint does state a claim for which relief may be granted with respect to the First Cause of Action (civil conspiracy). It also states a claim for which relief may be granted with respect to the Second Cause of Action (slander *per se*), ...")

Spirtos must be aware that the Court does not have jurisdiction to hear denials of motions to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5). *See* NRAP 3A(b) (setting out appealable determinations); *Kirsch v. Traber*, 134 Nev. 163, 168, 414 P.3d 818, 822 (2018). That is why he shifts the arguments that he previously sought as relief under NRCP 12(b)(5) to these new arguments that Yemenidjian did not show a probability of prevailing on the merits under NRS 41.660(3)(b). Regardless, since these issues were not argued below, they are deemed to have been waived and should not be considered on appeal. *Delores v. State, Emp't Sec. Div.*, 134 Nev. 258, 261, 416 P.3d 259, 262 (2018). The Court should not consider Spirtos' repackaged arguments made in an attempt to give this Court jurisdiction to consider the district court's denial under NRCP 12(b)(5).

The Court should also not consider Spirtos' general arguments about whether or not Yemenidjian met his burden under the second prong of the anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss. Pursuant to NRS 41.660(3), only once a defendant meets his burden to show, by a preponderance of the evidence that the statements were protected under the anti-SLAPP statute should the district court consider whether the plaintiff met his burden. The district court did not address this issue below, because it determined that Spirtos' failed to meet his burden under the first prong of the test. (App. 368-381.) This Court has previously declined to consider whether the plaintiff met his burden under the second prong for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g. Abrams v. Sanson*, 136 Nev. at 91 n.3, 458 P.3d at 1069 n.3; *Stark v. Lackey*, 136 Nev. at 41, 458 P.3d at 345. The Court similarly should not consider Spirtos' arguments for the first time here.<sup>10</sup>

# E. The Litigation Privilege Does Not Protect These Slanderous Statements.

Much like his analysis of NRS 41.637(3), Spirtos widely construes the scope and purpose of the litigation privilege in an attempt to avoid liability for his statements to Oceguera. Spirtos leans into his broad interpretation of a significant interest: "The entire industry had a significant interest in the litigation because it would have been affected by D.H. Flamingo's request for an order revoking the licenses awarded by the Department and requiring the Department to redo the application process." (Opening Br. at 33.) Spirtos' interpretation of the litigation privilege would allow him to say whatever he would like about his competitors while

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Despite the lack of jurisdiction to consider the denial of a motion pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), and the Court's prior decisions to not consider the second prong of the test under NRS 41.660(3), and without waiving his arguments about jurisdiction, Yemenidjian responds to Spirtos' meritless arguments out of an abundance of caution.

hiding behind the shield of a pending lawsuit.

The purpose of the litigation privilege is to protect litigation participants from liability for their advocacy before the courts. *Fink v. Oshins*, 118 Nev. 428, 433, 49 P.3d 640, 643 (2000). The privilege exists so as to protect the merits of judicial proceedings, because the law has made the policy choice that it is better to promote zealous advocacy before the courts despite the risk of potential abuse with false statements. *Id*.

Outside the courthouse, however, the litigation privilege has a limited application, and is only implicated when a statement is made relating to the litigation and if the recipient of the communication has a "significant interest" in the litigation, such as when lawyers or litigants communicate outside the courtroom regarding a potential settlement. *Id.* at 436, 49 P.3d at 645-46. "In order to determine whether a person who is not directly involved in the judicial proceedings may still be 'significantly interested in the proceeding,' the district court must review 'the recipient's legal relationship to the litigation, not their interest as an observer.'" *Shapiro v. Welt*, 133 Nev. at 41, 389 P.3d at 269 (quoting *Jacobs v. Adelson*, 130 Nev. 408, 416, 325 P.3d 1282, 1287 (2014)). The statement must also be sufficiently relevant to the litigation in order to fall within the litigation privilege. *Circus Circus Hotels, Inc. v. Witherspoon*, 99 Nev. 56, 62, 657 P.2d 101, 105 (1983).

The district court properly determined that Spirtos was "not entitled to the

protections of the absolute litigation privilege as it relates to his statements made to Mr. Oceguera in January 2019." (App. 378.) The district court recognized that Oceguera may have had some interest the litigation as an observer, but it was not sufficient to constitute the significant interest necessary for the litigation privilege to apply. (*Id.*) This Court has previously drawn a comparison between statements relating to an issue before a judicial body under NRS 41.637(3) and the litigation privilege. *Patin*, 134 Nev. at 727 n.4, 429 P.3d at 1252 n.4 (noting that a defendant's "argument that the statement is protected by the absolute litigation privilege fails for the same reason"). Oceguera's general involvement in the marijuana industry is not enough to create the necessary significant interest in the litigation for the absolute litigation privilege to apply.

# F. Yemenidjian's Complaint Has Stated Claims Upon Which Relief Can Be Granted.

### 1. Conspiracy.

The district court correctly determined that Yemenidjian adequately pled a cause of action for civil conspiracy. The Complaint alleged that "Spirtos and others have undertaken a campaign to lie about and slander Mr. Yemenidjian." (App. 005.) Because this issue was before the district court on a motion to dismiss, the district court was required to accept the allegations as true. *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 123 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). The district court determined that this allegation met the pleading standard, and "the co-conspirators

need not be specifically identified, and the reference to 'others' are enough to state a claim for which relief may be granted . . . . " (App. 380.)

Spirtos argues that Yemenidjian's Complaint alleges a conspiracy of one, a legal impossibility. (Opening Br. at 37.) That is not accurate. As the district court noted, however, the complaint references, but does not name, the other co-conspirators. As for *Morris v. Bank of America*, the sole Nevada case which Spirtos relies upon to support his argument, the deficiencies in that complaint did not rise to meet the necessary pleading standard under NRCP 8(a). 110 Nev. 1274, 1276 n.1, 886 P.2d 454, 455 n.1 (1994). This includes failing to identify *any party* to the conspiracy or the unlawful objective of the conspiracy. *Id.* By contrast, Yemenidjian's complaint does just what the law requires, detailing Spirtos' conduct that was intended to harm Yemenidjian.<sup>11</sup>

Spirtos' also advances the argument for dismissal of the conspiracy claim because it is duplicative of the claim for slander per se. (Opening Br. 39-40.) This both ignores the law that acts can give rise to more than one cause of action and misconstrues the claims. While his claim for slander per se arises out of Spirtos' statement to Oceguera, the claim for civil conspiracy is broader. As the complaint

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Spirtos' remaining arguments all rely on out of jurisdiction case law intended to impose a heightened pleading burden, one that does not exist here. Again, Nevada is a notice pleading state, and a complaint need only give "fair notice of the nature and basis of the claim." *Vacation Vil., Inc. v. Hitachi Am., Ltd.*, 110 Nev. 481, 484, 874 P.2d 744, 746 (1994).

alleges, Spirtos and the Doe and Roe Defendants undertook a campaign to undermine Yemenidjian and his business. Through his backroom maneuvering, Spirtos worked to slander and spread lies about Yemenidjian to harm him in his business. The district court correctly determined that Yemenidjian had adequately pled a claim for civil conspiracy and, again, this Court lacks jurisdiction to review a denial of a motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5). The district court's order should not be disturbed.

### 2. Punitive damages.

The district court recognized that Yemenidjian's complaint identifies the basis for his prayer for punitive damages: despite knowing that there were no facts to support his statements, Spirtos slandered Yemenidjian. (App. 380-81; App. 005 ¶ 22-23.) Spirtos told Oceguera that Yemenidjian was involved in outright corruption in order to secure licenses. Spirtos intended to falsely accuse Yemenidjian of criminal activity in an attempt to undermine him and harm his reputation and business. This is the type of behavior that punitive damages were intended to punish and to discourage. NRS 42.005. Indeed, that is why Nevada law places no cap on the amount of punitive damages for slander. *Id.* Nevada's Legislature has determined that the type of conduct undertaken by Spirtos here is so repugnant to a civilized society that the potential amount of punitive damages should be unlimited. The district court's order denying Spirtos' motion to dismiss is legally sound.

### **IV. CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the district court's denial of Spirtos' special motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660. The anti-SLAPP statutes are intended to limit liability for statements about issues of public concern. Spirtos failed to meet his burden to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that his statements slandering Yemenidjian and accusing him of committing a crime were made in good faith, or fell within any of the categories set out in NRS 41.637. Because Spirtos did not meet his burden under the first prong, the Court, consistent with past decisions, should not consider whether Yemenidjian met his burden under the second prong. Similarly, the Court should also find that it does not have jurisdiction to review the district court's denial of Spirtos' request for alternative relief under NRCP 12(b)(5) and decline to consider Spirtos' repackaged arguments.